Public Document Pack

CLIMATE EMERGENCY ADVISORY COMMITTEE
Meeting to be held REMOTELY on
Thursday, 22nd October, 2020
at 10.30 am

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
B Anderson
J Bentley
D Blackburn
N Buckley
P Carlill
A Garthwaite
J Illingworth
M Midgley
L Mulherin
M Shahzad
P Wadsworth
N Walshaw (Chair)
P Wray

Note to observers of the meeting:
To remotely observe this meeting, please click on the ‘View the Meeting Recording’ link,
which will feature on the meeting’s webpage (linked below) ahead of the meeting. The
webcast will become available at the commencement of the meeting.
https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLPjmOAZpvCo-9S0G2DoZITBEDTUtAa8eU

Agenda compiled by:
Harriet Speight
Governance and Scrutiny Support
Telephone: 0113 37 89954
Produced on Recycled Paper

AGENDA

Item
No
1

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
APPEALS AGAINST REFUSAL OF INSPECTION
OF DOCUMENTS
To consider any appeals in accordance with
Procedure Rule 15.2 of the Access to Information
Procedure Rules (in the event of an appeal the
press and public will be excluded).
(*In accordance with Procedure Rule 15.2, written
notice of an appeal must be received by the Head
of Governance Services at least 24 hours before
the meeting)

2

EXEMPT INFORMATION - POSSIBLE
EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC
1) To highlight reports or appendices which
officers have identified as containing exempt
information, and where officers consider that
the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information, for the reasons
outlined in the report.
2) To consider whether or not to accept the
officers recommendation in respect of the
above information.
3) If so, to formally pass the following
resolution:RESOLVED – That the press and public be
excluded from the meeting during consideration of
the following parts of the agenda designated as
containing exempt information on the grounds that
it is likely, in view of the nature of the business to
be transacted or the nature of the proceedings,
that if members of the press and public were
present there would be disclosure to them of
exempt information, as follows:-

Item
No
3

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
LATE ITEMS
To identify items which have been admitted to the
agenda by the Chair for consideration
(The special circumstances shall be specified in
the minutes)

4

DECLARATION OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY
AND OTHER INTERESTS
To disclose or draw attention to any disclosable
pecuniary interests for the purposes of Section 31
of the Localism Act 2000 and paragraphs 13-18 of
the Members’ Code of Conduct. Also to declare
any other significant interests which the Member
wishes to declare in the public interest, in
accordance with paragraphs 19-20 of the
Members’ Code of Conduct.

5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive any apologies for absence from the
meeting.

6

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
To receive and approve the minutes of the meeting
held on 22nd September 2020.

7

OPEN FORUM
At the discretion of the Chair, a period of up to 15
minutes may be allocated at each ordinary meeting
for members of the public to make representations
or to ask questions on matters within the terms of
reference of the Committee. No member of the
public shall speak for more than five minutes in the
Open Forum, except by permission of the Chair.
Please note: Members of the public are asked to
submit a video of their question or statement to
climate.emergency@leeds.gov.uk by 12 p.m. on
Monday 19th October 2020.

7 - 12

Item
No

Ward

Item Not
Open

Page
No
WORKING GROUPS UPDATE

8

To receive a verbal update on the progress of the
Committees’ working groups to date.
VOLTAGE OPTIMISATION

9

13 20

To receive a cover report from the Head of
Democratic Services introducing a presentation to
be delivered by Mr Keith Jackson on his recent
submission to OFGEM regarding voltage
optimisation.
IMPROVING AIR QUALITY IN THE CITY

10

To consider the report of the Head of Democratic
Services that introduces an update from the Chief
Officer (Sustainable Energy and Air Quality) on the
implementation of the Clean Air Charging Zone
(CAZ).
DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING

11

The next meeting will take place on Monday 18th
January 2021 at 10 a.m.

Third Party Recording
Recording of this meeting is allowed to enable those not present to see or hear the proceedings either as they take place (or later) and
to enable the reporting of those proceedings. A copy of the recording protocol is available from the contacts named on the front of this
agenda.
Use of Recordings by Third Parties– code of practice
a)
b)

Any published recording should be accompanied by a statement of when and where the recording was made, the context of
the discussion that took place, and a clear identification of the main speakers and their role or title.
Those making recordings must not edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or misrepresentation of the
proceedings or comments made by attendees. In particular there should be no internal editing of published extracts;
recordings may start at any point and end at any point but the material between those points must be complete.

21 68

Agenda Item 6
Climate Emergency Advisory Committee
Tuesday, 22nd September, 2020
PRESENT:

Councillor N Walshaw in the Chair
Councillors J Bentley, D Blackburn,
N Buckley, P Carlill, D Collins,
A Garthwaite, J Illingworth, M Midgley,
L Mulherin, M Shahzad, P Wadsworth and
P Wray

12

Appeals Against Refusal of Inspection of Documents

There were no appeals.
13

Exempt Information - Possible Exclusion of the Press and Public

There were no exempt items.
14

Late Items

Item 11 - The report titled ‘Response to the Citizens’ Jury’s Recommendations’ was
unavailable at the time of agenda publication and was published as a late item
(Minute 22 refers)
15

Declaration of Disclosable Pecuniary and Other Interests

There were no declarations of disclosable pecuniary or other interests.
16

Apologies for Absence

An apology for absence was received from Councillor B Anderson, and Councillor D
Collins was in attendance as substitute.
17

Minutes of the Previous Meeting

RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held 17 July 2020 be approved as an
accurate record, subject to an amendment to reflect that Councillor P Carlill was in
attendance.
18

Open Forum

Members of the public were asked to submit a video recording of their open forum
submission in advance of the meeting. The Chair noted that for future meetings,
video submissions would be selected at random, with priority given to individuals or
groups who have not been selected in the last 6 months.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 22nd October, 2020

Page 5

Three videos were played at the meeting, which were submitted by the following
groups:
1) Youth Strike4Climate
2) Group for Action on Leeds Bradford Airport
3) Wildlife Friendly Otley
All three videos can be viewed here.
19

Working Groups Update

The Chief Officer for Sustainable Energy and Air Quality, Polly Cook, advised that
the working groups had not been recommenced since ‘lockdown’, and therefore
provided an update to the groups upcoming work streams to begin in October as
follows:


Biodiversity and Food - during previous sessions, the working group had
focused predominantly on biodiversity, therefore at the request of the Chair,
the next session will focus on concluding the work undertaken to support
biodiversity in Leeds, and also consider the White Rose strategy ahead of
consideration at Executive Board the following month. Thereafter, the group
intends to focus on food production, assessing and taking forward
opportunities to develop a sustainable food system in Leeds recommended by
research partners (Minute 21 refers)



Planning, Buildings and Energy - to date, had focused on planning
regulations and drafting a response to the recently published government
white paper, which is to be circulated to members of the working group for
comment via email, ahead of the final discussions at the next session before
submission. The group will then move on to focus on energy efficiency, and
specifically examine domestic energy efficiency policy and commercial energy
efficiency policy.



Transport - the working group intends to continue to work on active travel
and walking strategies with partners, and the upcoming transport strategy
prior to consideration at Executive Board later in the year.

Members requested that a focus on improving public transport patronage following
the pandemic should also feature on the work schedule for the Transport working
group, along with analysis of emissions for prospective walking and cycling
schemes, to ensure that such schemes do not contribute to further pollution in the
city. Additionally, Members requested that a written timetable of the scheduled
meetings be circulated.
20

Climate Action Fund - Community Projects in Leeds

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that introduced a presentation
to be delivered by representatives from a partnership of local organisations who
have been successful in their bid for funding from the £2.5m National Lottery Climate
Action Fund.
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 22nd October, 2020

Page 6

Paul Chatterton, Our Future Leeds, was in attendance for this item and delivered a
presentation on the Climate Emergency Community Action Programme (CECAP) in
Leeds, setting out the range of partners engaged, resources secured, governance
arrangements, and plans for the 16 new Climate Action Hubs across the city.
Members discussed a number of matters, including:




Engaging with communities. Members asked how the Council could improve
their own communications and consultations. Members were advised that in
order to rebuild trust, authorities must be clear about the challenges faced and
the direct actions needed to address them, and specifically in relation to the
planning, the development of a popular planning process where people feel
involved in co-creating suggestions based on their lived experiences.
Climate Action Hubs. Members were supportive of the plans for encouraging
deeper democracy and creating hubs within communities across Leeds to
develop ‘community climate plans’. Linked to this, it was also suggested that
local groups, including faith groups, could be involved in the development of
16 city-wide hubs.

RESOLVED –
a) That the contents of the report and presentation be noted;
b) That an annual update on the Climate Emergency Community Action
Programme (CECAP) be provided to the Committee over the course of the
next five years of funding.
21

Sustainable Food Systems

The Head of Democratic Services submitted a report that introduced a presentation
to be delivered by representatives from UKRI and the Global Food and Environment
Institute setting out the action to be taken to develop a climate resilient food system
in Leeds that promotes health, sustainability and food security.
The following were in attendance:
-

Tom Bliss, Chair of Feed Leeds
Paola Hernandez Montes de Oca, UKRI Research and Innovation Fellow
Sonja Woodcock, Zest Leeds
Andy Goldring - Permaculture Association

The guest speakers provided Members with a presentation highlighting the findings
of a number of workshops held with prominent stakeholders in the Leeds city region,
which focused on the future of food production in the context of a climate emergency
and the actions to be taken to improve the system. The key recommendations were
set out as follows:
 Leeds City Council should seek to appoint a senior / high profile council
contact to chair a Leeds Food System Cross-Council working group, meeting
regularly with members in attendance as required;
Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 22nd October, 2020

Page 7

 The working group should include all senior officers with food, land and/or
other relevant responsibilities e.g. asset management, planning, parks and
countryside, environment, climate, public health (enhancing the existing Food
Group), procurement, business innovation, waste management, among
others;
 The group should also hold regular outreach meetings with local experts such
as Feed Leeds, FoodWise Leeds and a new Farm Forum linking and
supporting producers in the Leeds/Yorkshire agricultural zone and others
(e.g. processors, distribution).
Members discussed a number of matters, including:




Producing more food locally. Members highlighted opportunities for vertical
farming in industrial areas to support the local food and catering industry,
including the Council’s own catering service, as well as to support broader
food security in the region and creating ‘green jobs’.
Devolution and working beyond Leeds. Members queried whether the
research group had considered the West Yorkshire region as a whole in their
workshops to date, and were advised that discussions are in progress around
the development of a larger working group with West Yorkshire partners.

RESOLVED –
a) That the contents of the report and presentation be noted.
b) That the recommendations be considered at the next meeting of the
Biodiversity and Food Working Group.
22

Response to the Citizens' Jury's Recommendations

The Director of Resources and Housing submitted a report that provided a formal
response to the Citizens’ Jury’s recommendations from the Council’s perspective.
The Chief Officer for Sustainable Energy and Air Quality, Polly Cook, introduced the
report, highlighting the progress on the recommendations since the first response
report in March 2020, within context of the changes arising from the devolution deal
and the challenges associated with the pandemic.
Members discussed a number of matters, including:




Digital communications. Members suggested further analysis of the methods
of communication to residents in Leeds, noting that some of the more tradition
communication methods had been shown to no longer be useful, whereas
there had been a rise in social platforms, including registered WhatsApp
groups.
Vision for a car-free Leeds. In reference to the Transport Strategy, Members
noted the challenge associated with reducing car usage when the
infrastructure of the city was built to encourage car usage, particularly in the
context of social distancing, however also referenced a number of schemes
underway to make other forms of travel more accessible and reliable. Related
to this, Members noted that the report did not include an indication of whether

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 22nd October, 2020

Page 8



the Council intends to introduce a workplace parking levy, and suggested that
the upcoming Transport Strategy includes a position on this matter.
Leeds Bradford Airport (LBA) expansion. Members noted that the response to
Recommendation I did not include a position on the planning application
submitted by LBA, however, recognised that the City Plans Panel, which
includes Members of the Climate Emergency Advisory Committee, will
consider the application in due course. The Council is therefore prohibited
from commenting at this time through other forums.

RESOLVED – That the contexts of the report be noted.
23

Date and Time of Next Meeting

The next meeting will take place on Thursday 22nd October 2020 at 10:30 a.m.

Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting
to be held on Thursday, 22nd October, 2020

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
Report author: Harriet Speight
Tel: 0113 37 89954

Report of the Head of Democratic Services
Report to Climate Emergency Advisory Committee
Date: 22 October 2020
Subject: Voltage Optimisation
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to introduce a presentation to be delivered by Mr Keith
Jackson on his recent submission to OFGEM regarding voltage optimisation, which
is attached at Appendix 1.

2.

Main issues

2.1

Mr Keith Jackson, a local Leeds resident, will be in attendance to provide Members
with an overview of his recent submission to OFGEM, the government regulator for
gas and electricity markets in Great Britain, regarding voltage optimisation.

2.2

A copy of Mr Jackson’s submission to OFGEM is attached at Appendix 1.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

The Climate Emergency Advisory Committee is asked to note the contents of the
presentation.

4.

Background documents1

4.1

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 1

14th Sept 2020.
Mr. Jonathan Brearley,
Chief Executive Officer,
OFGEM,
10, South Colonnade,
Canary Wharf,
London, E14 4PU,

Dear Sir,
RIIO-ED2 Methodology Consultation.
This is my personal submission as you move forward with your proposals for the next electricity
distribution price control which is scheduled to commence in April 2023.
Prologue.
If the good fairy came up to you and offered you 3% savings in energy across the whole UK
electricity system for hardly any outlay with a guarantee that the quality of supply would not be
adversely affected would you stop and listen? If she was then able to convince you that this
would also reduce the generation CO2 emissions by the same percentage you may start thinking
that this was your lucky day. If she also pinged her wand and said that she would give you, for
free, some more capacity on your soon to be stretched distribution network, you would surely
start checking on how much whisky was left in the bottle. But would you listen or would you
sweep away the fairy dust and decline the offer in a belief that it must be a dream?
I invite you to read on.

Page 13

Who is making this submission?
I make this submission as an individual customer who has a taken a close interest in the
performance and activities of DNO’s over many years. My career spanned system design,
operations, management, and main board director within the Electricity Supply Industry both
before and after privatization. I was responsible for a number of far reaching national policy
matters associated with improving customer care standards and the promotion of energy
efficiency in the use of electricity. An example was the invention of the Guaranteed Standards
of Service with penalty payments to customers for privatised industries. This was adopted by
the then Secretary of State for Energy and is extant. Recently I have been involved in the
creation of a local Neighbourhood Plan which sets the strategy and ambition for Boston Spa
village and which contains emphasis on energy efficiency and environmental improvements. I
am a member of the Stakeholder Panel of Northern Powergrid.
What is the submission about?
I observe that the present regulations challenge the industry players to improve the reliability
of the supply and they have responded positively by addressing the targets which you have set.
They have reaped rewards and been praised, for the innovative ways in which they have
managed to reduce the number of interruptions and the number of minutes lost per average
customer. Para 2.8 of your Overview makes the point precisely. But there is a fundamental
omission within the present regulations which needs to be addressed. This omission has had
the unintended effect of causing excess consumption by customers with its directly related and
unnecessary CO2 emissions.
My objective is to cause you to consider introducing Quality of Supply regulation within RIIOED2.
Which questions does this submission relate to?
This proposal is in complete alignment with your declared objectives as described in Section 1
of your invitation to submit views, viz:





Creating a smart and flexible energy system
Delivering value for money for customers
Keeping customer bills low
Supporting a move to Net Zero

Whilst this submission has a narrow focus, it has relevance to many of the of questions which
you pose in Appendix 6, including those relating to Net Zero (OVQ3-OVQ15), Needs of
Customers (OUTQ3-OUTQ6), Vulnerability (OUTQ19-OUTQ22), Reliable Network (OUTQ23OUTQ43), Whole System Approach (OVQ24-OVQ29).

Page 14

What is the Justification and Evidence?
The UK statutory voltage range for LV customers is 230v + 10% - 6%. Hence the upper limit is
253v and the lower limit is 216.2v. Other EU countries operate with an upper limit of +6% ie
243.8v.
Present policies of DNO’s is to run the 11kv system at a higher figure (typically 11.1kv - 11.3kv).
Local distribution transformers are generally configured with the off load tap change set to the
higher end of its range. Design of the two different networks is not interlinked so any included
excess voltage is cumulative. Policy and design recommendations are cautious and the system
is deliberately run at the top end of the statutory range to allow for volt drop over the system.
Voltage at customers terminals is rarely measured.
Remote customer generation has tended to raise the network voltage by back feeding from the
far end. This is similar to a river running to the sea when the tide is coming in. For all these
reasons customers are receiving voltages which are unnecessarily high. This unsatisfactory
situation has existed for 25 years.
Now that Smart Meters are being installed voltage readings are automatically submitted to the
data centres but only exceptional readings are flagged. This is a missed opportunity. The data
could be used to monitor and target the voltage received by customers throughout the
network.
Close consideration of actual voltages recorded by Smart Meters has revealed that most
customers are receiving voltage within a range between 230v – 250v. At times of light load it is
not uncommon for some customers to receive voltage in excess of the upper statutory limit.
Very, very, few customers receive low voltage and complaints of low voltage are rare. There is
bandwidth available for the voltage delivered at customers terminals to move down to a range
of 220v - 240v. This will still leave a margin before the lower limit of 216v is reached.
The industry is considering a further reduction to a lower limit of 230v -10% = 207v (reference
ENA Technical Report 140) and it has been established that the vast majority of equipment will
work satisfactorily at that lower level. Hence it is inherently safe to reduce voltage and,
additionally, lowering the voltage may improve the longevity of equipment.
Reducing voltage will reduce energy consumed. Whilst a direct straight line relationship
between voltage and energy consumed cannot be claimed many studies have confirmed that a
reduction of voltage will cause a reduction in energy across the whole system including the
network and the customer. A figure close to 1:1 has been proffered by The Energy Networks
Association (Reference ENA Technical Report 140) and the ENWL Class project (Reference
www.enwl.co.uk/zero-carbon/innovation/key-projects/class/), which states ‘ The awardwinning CLASS project successfully demonstrated that cutting edge voltage control can reduce
demand for electricity, without customers noticing a difference to their supply’. Indeed, the
industry uses voltage reduction techniques to reduce load under extreme conditions. It is sad to

Page 15

see, in the body of the report and the Executive Summary, that almost all of the outcomes from
voltage reduction are seen in the context of operational matters with scant regard to the
benefits to customers.
There is an ongoing innovation project within Northern Powergrid which will use a derivative of
real time Smart Meter voltage readings to send signals to the Automatic Voltage Control (AVC)
devices on the primary network. The end result will be a feedback control loop so that voltage
can be varied up and down within the statutory voltage range. The emphasis will be to optimise
the voltage for the benefit of customers, the climate, and the network operator– mostly
downwards when compared with present levels.
The expected benefits to be accrued are:
a) Reduction of consumed energy by all LV customers (including the vulnerable and
commerce/industry/NGO’s).
b) A commensurate reduction in energy production and CO2 emissions by the generators
so helping towards the Climate Change Net Zero Target.
c) A reduction of actual load on the LV system so releasing network capacity in readiness
for the expected extra load which will come from decarbonisation initiatives such as air
source heat pumps and EV’s.
This is a WIN, WIN, WIN scenario.
Why has this initiative not been proposed previously?
Current OFGEM Regulations have not given any incentive to consider voltage at customer
terminals. The regulations are silent on Quality of Supply. The present regulations only
incentivise a reduction in minutes on/off.
Remote voltage meters (Smart Meters) have not been available until recently.
Distribution engineers and managers have traditionally been cautious and have tended to keep
a bit of voltage ‘in hand’. Possibly a relic of the period before voltage harmonization with
Europe when the nominal voltage in UK was 240v.
Design policy has been in place for many years and has not been challenged.
DNO’s are predominantly accountable to their shareholders and consequently concentrate on
allowable costs and payment for performance. Decisions tend to be company centric rather
than customer focused.
Reliability of Supply (average minutes lost and number of interruptions) has been the dominant
driving force for innovation – ie rewards for responding to the Interruption Incentive Scheme
(IIS).

Page 16

When nominal voltage was harmonized in 1995 the UK did not use the opportunity to reduce
target received voltage. This was a cautious and self centred decision by the industry which did
not give sufficient consideration of the potential benefits to customers. The customers have not
reaped any reward. Now, there is a moral imperative to act with all haste.

What is Proposed?
Within the new RIIO-ED2 regulations there should be a need to monitor Quality of Supply at
the customer terminals. The DNO’s should be incentivised to use their innovative skills to
ensure that the whole network is being operated in an optimal manner for the benefit of the
customer and the environment.
Now that we have smart meters the remote sampling of voltage at customers terminals is
readily available. The use of smart meters in this manner would demonstrate to the wider
public a practical benefit of this high cost expenditure. The practical application of Smart
Meters to make real energy and CO2 savings could potentially garner public trust. This will be
essential as part of the transition towards net zero.
Epilogue.
The stars are aligned.
Millions of Smart Meters are sending live voltage readings from customers to data centres.
The world has woken up to the need to reduce CO2 emissions and governments are making
legal agreements to help save the Planet.
Large organisations are having to refresh their approach to corporate and social responsibility
and rebalance the needs of the different stakeholders. There is a moral imperative to seek
changes.
In the UK new regulations for the 5 years ahead are being developed by OFGEM to focus minds
and set meaningful targets for the monopolistic providers of energy.
There has never been a greater need, or a better opportunity, to bring about a positive step
change in the management of voltage.
Now is the moment to act – for the sake of everyone.

Yours sincerely,

K H Jackson

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Report author: Harriet Speight
Tel: 0113 37 89954

Report of the Head of Democratic Services
Report to Climate Emergency Advisory Committee
Date: 22 October 2020
Subject: Improving Air Quality in the City
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

1.

Purpose of this report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to introduce an update from the Chief Officer
(Sustainable Energy and Air Quality) on the implementation of the Clean Air
Charging Zone (CAZ)

2.

Main issues

2.1

The report titled ‘Improving Air Quality in the City (Clean Air Charging Zone Update)’
submitted to the Executive Board meeting on 21 October 2020 is appended to this
report for information.

3.

Recommendations

3.1

The Climate Emergency Advisory Committee is asked to note the contents of the
presentation.

4.

Background documents1

4.1

None.

The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.
1

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
Report author: Emma Slater
Tel: 0113 37 81761

Report of: Director of Resources and Housing and Director of City Development
Report to Executive Board
Date: 21 October 2020
Subject: Improving Air Quality in the City (Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) update)
Yes

No

Has consultation been carried out?

Yes

No

Are there implications for equality and diversity and cohesion and
integration?

Yes

No

Will the decision be open for call-in?

Yes

No

Does the report contain confidential or exempt information?

Yes

No

Are specific electoral wards affected?
If yes, name(s) of ward(s):

If relevant, access to information procedure rule number:
Appendix number:

Summary
1. Main issues
 The Leeds Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) has been the subject of a joint review
with Central Government to determine whether the scheme was still required to
meet legal limits of air quality.
 The review has concluded and as a result of the Air Quality improvements the city
has made over the past two years, the Council and Central Government jointly
agree that Leeds has achieved compliance with the Government’s EU compliance
(PCM) model and will maintain compliant into the future. As a consequence, the
CAZ is no longer required.
 The city’s fleet has improved far faster than anticipated. This has been in part due
to the anticipation of a CAZ being implemented and also as a result of the Clean
Air Funding which the government has made available.

Page 21

 Air Quality in the city remains an important agenda item. The CAZ was always a
tool to meet legal compliance only – legal compliance for NO2 is defined at 40
microgram/m3 in national legislation. In this respect the Council’s position remains
the same – there are no safe levels of air pollution and public health is paramount.
However, residents in Leeds are now breathing considerably cleaner air than two
years ago as a result of the improvements to the city’s fleet and the other ancillary
air quality measures that have been delivered in support of cleaner air. These
include:
Fleet upgrade that has exceeded expectations of the CAZ including:


First Leeds operating 184 CAZ compliant buses (9 of which are

electric and 30 of which are hybrid), with a further 5 electric ordered for the
Stourton Park and Ride service next summer.


Taxi fleet now contains over 2300 Petrol Hybrids and the remainder

are Euro 6 / 4 (Diesel/Petrol).


The Council’s own fleet that would have been affected by the CAZ is

fully compliant, and in the main, the remainder of the fleet meets or exceeds
the CAZ standards – we boast the largest electric vehicle fleet in the UK of
any local authority (we operate c300 electric vans).


Businesses in Leeds are now trialling Electric Vans with the “try before

you buy’ scheme run by the Council.


All of these initiatives are supported by the hundreds of electric

vehicle charge points across Leeds to use, many of which have multiple
charge bays available. This includes 19 7kW charge points and 1 50kW
(rapid) charge points at council car parks. Dozens more charge points—both
slow and rapid—will be introduced at Elland Road, Temple Green and
Stourton park and ride sites. Additionally, the council is working in
partnership with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority and ENGIE to install
at least 30 new rapid charge points across Leeds by the end of 20/21. The
commercial charging network is significant and continues to grow. The
council has also updated its planning policies so that all new developments
with parking in Leeds need to include electric vehicle charge points. There
are now just under 10,000 ultra-low emission vehicles drivers in Leeds—a
tenfold increase since the first quarter of 2016.
Page 22

Investment in Sustainable and Active Transport


The council continues to work with partners to invest £270 million in schemes that
will transform transport and travel and improve air quality as part of the Connecting
Leeds strategy, working towards a vision of making Leeds a city where residents
don’t need to use a car. This includes adding 2,000 additional park and ride spaces,
new bus priority lanes to improve reliability, and more than 800 kilometres of new
cycle network. The strategy has ambitious targets to reduce transport-related
emissions by 27%. Notable work underway or completed to date includes:


Introducing 2 new rail stations at Kirkstall Forge and Apperley Bridge.



Reprioritising roads across the city centre to promote public transport and
active travel including Infirmary Street, the Headrow, Park Row, Cookridge
Street, Corn Exchange, York Street.



Introducing popular park and ride hubs at Elland Road and Temple Green.
An additional hub at Stourton is also in development.



Bike parking spaces, training sessions and other infrastructure as part of City
Connect’s Bike Friendly Schools and Bike Friendly Businesses schemes.



Launch of a pop-up bike hub in Kirkgate Market to support people accessing
the city centre by bike and a ‘try before you buy’ E-Bike Trials scheme that
received around 250 applicants within a week of launch.

Communication and Engagement


Since 2017, Leeds has seen a number of events and communications

campaigns organised by the council to raise awareness of air quality and the
actions that residents and businesses can take to reduce their own
emissions. Communications have also played an important role to increase
awareness of the CAZ and encourage businesses to upgrade their vehicles.


Collectively, the ‘Clean Air Leeds’ campaigns have reached hundreds

of thousands of residents and secured significant media coverage. A
dedicated website provides a hub of resources for residents to learn more
about air pollution.


A wide range of different stakeholders have been engaged and

different advertising channels have been used to ensure that all audiences

Page 23

have been reached. These include radio advertisements, outdoor billboards,
bus shelter advertising, paid social media ads, digital content, and editorials.

Focused work with schools:


The Council works with all schools in the city to promote and enable
sustainable travel by developing tailored travel plans for pupils and staff.
Additionally, schools are encouraged to sign up to national sustainable
travel accreditation and to participate in active travel initiatives.



To encourage safe scooting over being driven, 30 primary schools have
introduced free training, parking and 400 pool scooters. Participating
schools saw a 6% reduction in pupil car usage.



The Council has also led a number of educational schemes related to air
quality. The council has trialled and published well-received toolkits for
primary schools. Educational performances and workshops have also
been delivered to 20 schools.



To reduce air pollution outside of the school gates and promote
sustainable travel, 14 schools have introduced restricted access to cars
during the start and end of the school day as part of the ‘School Streets’
initiative.



300 anti-idling banners were produced and issues to schools, nurseries
and other education facilities in order to encourage parents to consider
the impact of the school run and switch of engines at the school gates.

 The Council has been in discussions with Central Government to ensure that
funding is retained from the Clean Air Fund for a number of air quality measures.
The Council has written to request just under £7 million to continue to support a
number of measures across the City, including further vehicle upgrades.
 Leeds will remain in the National NO2 Programme. This means that we will continue
to work in partnership with Central Government to retain air quality and traffic
monitoring capability within the city.
 The Council will also seek to further build on the achievements of the
complementary air quality measures that have been delivered to support

Page 24

compliance; therefore this report lays out the future direction for the City’s “Air
Quality Strategy 2021 – 2030”.
2. Best Council Plan Implications (click here for the latest version of the Best Council Plan)


The impact of the plans to implement the Leeds Clean Air Charging Zone and other
complementary measures directly contribute to the following area of the Best
Council Plan:


Sustainable Infrastructure : Improving Air Quality

3. Resource Implications
Implementation


The implementation of the Leeds CAZ and all associated activity was fully
funded by Central Government, therefore there has been no negative impact
on Council budgets.



There are contractual liabilities to settle and other ancillary items that will be
financed by underspent budgets provided by Central Government.



Central Government have agreed a finance package to use a number of the
ANPR cameras for ongoing fleet/air quality monitoring. The Council is also
exploring whether there are any further uses or city partnerships that can be
put in place to maximise the benefit of the network. Any such arrangements
will not adversely impact Council budgets and will require the necessary due
diligence to be undertaken, including satisfying local decision making
procedures.



The remaining, unspent Implementation funding will be returned to Central
Government.

Clean Air Funding


The package of financial support schemes was funded by Central
Government (c£18m). To date the Council has spent c£7.5m.



The Council has requested to retain circa £7m underspend from the Clean
Air Fund to support the maintenance of fleet upgrade and incentivise
continued fleet improvements.



The taxi loan scheme was partially supported by the Clean Air Fund,
however the loan monies provided to applicants was financed by Council
prudential borrowing.



Subject to the c£6.5m being approved for retention, the remaining, unspent
Clean Air Funding will be returned to Central Government.

Recommendations

Page 25

Executive Board is requested to:
a) Note the outcome of the review into Leeds air quality compliance achieving legal
compliance requiring the cancellation of the proposed Leeds Clean Air Charging
Zone (“Leeds CAZ”).
b) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development in conjunction with the City
Solicitor to take any formal steps under the Transport Act 2000 to revoke the Leeds
Clean Air Zone Charging Order (No. 01) that was made on the 19th December;
c) Note the funding repurposing package that has been requested from Central
Government.
d) Approve the high level approach to the development of the “Air Quality Strategy
2021 – 2030”.

Purpose of this report
1.1

This report:



Provides a summary of the findings from the review into the Leeds CAZ.



Details the strategy to ensure compliance will be maintained.



Confirms progress on the distribution of financial support to affected sectors.



Confirms the CAZ budget position.



Confirms the funding repurposing package that has been requested from Central
Government.



Provides an update to the Executive on other air quality measures that have been
progressed in the City.



Sets out the approach to a long-term “Air Quality Strategy” to drive continual
improvements now and into the future.

2.

Background information

2.1

The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 (“the Regulations) brought Directive
2008/50/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on Ambient Air Quality
and Cleaner Air for Europe in to UK Law. Regulation 26 of the Regulations requires
the Secretary of State to draw up and implement an air quality plan to achieve the
relevant limit or target value of pollutants in ambient air within the shortest possible
time. Under the Secretary of State’s plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide
concentrations certain local authorities were required to implement Clean Air Zones
or other equally effective measures to achieve statutory NO2 limit values within the
shortest possible time.

2.2

The Council has fully complied with its legal duties in this regard under the
Environment Act 1995 (Leeds City Council) Air Quality Direction 2017 (“2017 the
Page 26

Direction”) which directed the Council to prepare and submit to the Secretary of
State a full business case in connection with its duties in respect of air quality under
Part 4 of the Environment Act 1995 (“the Act”) and as part of the UK Plan.
2.3

On approval of the Council’s Final Business Case, a new Ministerial Direction 2019
was issued requiring full implementation as soon as possible, and at least in time to
bring forward compliance by 2020 to ensure compliance with the legal limit value for
nitrogen dioxide is achieved in Leeds in the shortest possible time. The Council has
since then continued to work towards meeting this obligation. Leeds is compliant for
2020.

2.4

Throughout 2019 and 2020, a series of reports were brought to the Executive
outlining implementation progress and scheme refinements. The latest being March
2020, where a go-live date was recommended but subsequently not approved due
to the Covid-19 pandemic.

2.5

Leeds continued to be the subject of a Ministerial Direction to implement the CAZ in
parallel to the review into Air Quality Compliance projections taking place in order
that it could work to implement the scheme in the shortest possible timescales if the
review concluded that the CAZ was still required.

2.6

Pollution in the city is measured at various points using a mixture of air quality
monitoring stations and diffusion tubes. The graph below shows air quality trends
over the last two years:

3.

Main issues
Page 27

Air Quality Compliance Review
3.1

The Leeds Clean Air Charging Zone proposals were approved by Central
Government in January 2019; this approval followed on from an extensive
consultation and business case development phase to ensure the scheme, when
implemented, would accelerate compliance with legal air quality limits (40
micrograms annual mean average on key link roads). At the time, Leeds was
forecast to achieve natural compliance (arising from natural fleet turnover and
corresponding improvements to vehicle technology) in 2022, meaning the CAZ, if
launched in January 2020 as originally planned, would have brought forward legal
compliance by two years.

3.2

Mid-2019 the planned launch of the scheme was delayed due to issues with the
development of supporting digital systems that would enable the operation and
enforcement of the scheme. As a consequence of these delays the anticipated
launch date was confirmed as no sooner than July 2020 (a delay of at least 6
months). Detailed reports on implementation progress and dissemination of
financial support were brought to the Executive in June and September 2019, and
March 2020.

3.3

In March 2020, the launch date was recommended for 28 September 2020. At the
exact time Executive Board were due to approve the launch of the scheme, the
Covid-19 pandemic struck the UK. Executive Board took a decision not to approve
go-live and a subsequent delay to no sooner than January 2021 was proposed and
approved by Central Government. This pause was primarily put in place to ensure
any impacts of the pandemic on the delivery timetable could be understood and
managed.

3.4

During the Covid-19 lockdown the air quality benefits and reduced traffic levels
were, and continue to be, evident. Traffic flows fell materially in late March, with
weekday volumes down by 61% compared with the same period in 2019, and
although they have risen since then, in September they remain 16% below the
same period last year. Morning peak volumes in September are down by 28% and
the evening peak by 16%.

3.5

CAZ Implementation activity continued despite the pandemic pause however, there
was some uncertainty around how to elect a new go-live date for the scheme due to
the environmental benefits being caused by the pandemic. Emissions data
collected earlier this year placed Leeds in a position of being within legal
compliance for 2020 (based on annual averages).

3.6

It was determined that the CAZ should be launched to ensure compliance beyond
2020 as is the Council’s legal duty. In order to understand when in 2021 might be
the right time to launch the scheme, a review of the Council’s emissions modelling
was performed by Central Government. This review examined a range of scenarios
and determined that there was a chance the compliance year may alter one way or
another dependent on the level of fleet upgrade and traffic. It was concluded that a
more robust investigation using modelling and local data, undertaken by the
Council, would be required to understand the true picture.

3.7

The review carried out by Central Government did not include local real world local
data such as the level of fleet upgrade that has occurred in the city since the CAZ
was initially announced, traffic volume data, and highways schemes that affect
traffic flows and concentrations.
Page 28

3.8

As a consequence, it was agreed between the Council and Central Government
that a specific, time limited piece of work would be carried out to investigate
compliance using our own higher resolution tools and resources to determine
whether a CAZ was in fact a suitable measure to bring about compliance in Leeds,
or if alternatives would be more suitable. The review has concluded that as a result
of the level of fleet upgrade in the city, Leeds is predicted to be comfortably below
the 40 microgram legal limit on all roads that form part of the Government’s EU
compliance model. The situation is helped by the implementation of highways
schemes (that were not confirmed at the time the CAZ was approved) and by traffic
reductions linked to Covid-19 but is not dependent on them. The modelling has
assumed traffic flows returning to normal levels to ensure the review is robust
(detail on modelling and emissions is described in further detail later in the report).

3.9

To this end, sensitivity analysis of the review has been performed to ensure
compliance is maintained even if there is a wholesale shift away from public
transport to private cars as a consequence of Covid-19 recovery. It is important to
note that even if this risk materialised and compliance was placed at risk, the CAZB scheme would not have offered a solution as private cars are only included in a
CAZ-D.

3.10

Having gone through this detailed work with Central Government and reaching a
joint consensus, the Council has written to Government Ministers outlining the
position and have requested a revised Ministerial Direction to confirm Leeds has
achieved legal compliance and is expected to remain compliant now and into the
future.

3.11

ANPR camera installation has concluded (with the exception of a small number of
sites where install has come into conflict with highways schemes). The ANPR
cameras have varied functionality and can be reused to support the city’s traffic
management, road safety and crime reduction ambitions. Options in this regard are
currently being investigated. Should repurposing be possible (both lawfully and
without adversely impacting Council budgets) then officers will consider available
options work to implement the change. Should there be cost implications it is
proposed that the network of cameras remain in-situ (but not operational) for a
further review into repurposing to take place during 2021. The cameras have an
operational lifespan of 8 years.

3.12

In a scenario where the Council wished to implement a Charging Clean Air Zone to
go beyond legal compliance there would be no funding support available from
Government to implement the scheme, or to help affected persons and/or
businesses to upgrade. A new consultation exercise would also be required (as
from a legal perspective this would be a new scheme to be delivered for a new
purpose – we would not be able to rely on the consultation already undertaken), in
addition to a new business case and all associated implementation activity.

Modelling and Emissions
3.13

The 2018 Full Business Case for the CAZ scheme modelled a compliance
assessment for both 2020 and 2022. This assessment found that ‘natural’
compliance was achieved in 2022 (natural compliance is the point at which it is
anticipated that normal fleet turnover brings about the necessary emissions
improvements).
Page 29

3.14

Therefore, the CAZ needed to be designed to bring forward compliance as fast as
possible. Had the CAZ launched in January 2020 as originally planned, this is the
point at which it was predicted compliance would be achieved as a consequence of
the measure being introduced.

3.15

Due to go-live being delayed to 2021 it was prudent to assess when in 2021 that a
CAZ might be required to maintain compliance, to determine a suitable go-live date
(described above at 3.6).

3.16

The original CAZ modelling work identified the Regent Street bridge area as an
area where legal limits would continue to be breached without the introduction of a
CAZ.

3.17

When the CAZ business case was written, we were reliant on older fleet data that
was collected in 2016, and assumptions for the projected 2020 fleet. The data has
been refreshed using the new network of ANPR cameras. Data captured in January
2020 has been used to inform the Air Quality Compliance review. The January
dataset is more representative of the current fleet operating in Leeds than the
projections made in 2017.

3.18

The composition of the Leeds fleet taken from January 2020 ANPR data is shown
below:
Vehicle type
Buses
Coaches**
Heavy Goods
Vehicles
Light Goods
Vehicles
Taxi and private
hire
Cars

Petrol Hybrid / Euro 6*
EV
93%
100%
88%

Euro 5*

Older

7%
10%

2%

-

70%

20%

10%

46%

26%

28%

-

3.2%

50%

30%

20%

*Euro standards = petrol and diesel combined. ULEV / Euro 6 meet CAZ
compliance (except Taxi and PH who were required to go to ULEV in 4 seater
saloons).
** ANPR camera captures for coaches were a very small sample size.
3.19

The fleet upgrade that has taken place now demonstrates that the city comfortably
achieves compliance at all target determination points in the city.

3.20

The situation around Regent Street is compliant with the updated fleet in normal
conditions, however there is currently a further improvement due to the traffic
management measures (contraflows) that are currently in place while the Regent
Street bridge improvements take place, and the reduction in traffic as a
consequence of the pandemic.

Page 30

3.21

The modelling work has included a number of major highway schemes planned for
delivery over the next two years and these do not reintroduce non-compliance at
any target determination point.

3.22

It is important to note that legal compliance is not dependent on the highways
schemes or the Covid-19 traffic reductions, however these factors are positive sideeffects.

3.23

This conclusion has been sensitivity tested by predicting increases in private car
use linked to Covid-19 recovery and reductions in the number of clean buses
operating in Leeds.

Maintaining Compliance
3.24

The evidence and analysis confirms that the compliance position in Leeds has been
brought about by a single factor:
 Level of fleet upgrade across all vehicle types in the city

3.25

While Covid-19 was the catalyst for exploring the air quality improvements in Leeds,
the position of compliance is in no way dependant on traffic reductions linked to
Covid-19 impacts. Covid-19 traffic reductions were not factored in to the review.
Therefore, the AQ improvements seen in the city have lasting longevity. In regards
to the emissions forecast there is sufficient headroom in the predictions for
increases in emissions without risking non-compliance.

3.26

The sensitivity testing performed indicates that modal shift towards the private car in
response to Covid-19 does not represent any risk to compliance. The key risk to
compliance would be if there was a deterioration of the current standard of the bus
fleet.

3.27

To support the taxi trade in continuing to operate CAZ compliant vehicles the
following measures are proposed and will be funded by the underspent CAF
funding (subject to approval from Central Government):

3.28

We propose that all Leeds licensed taxi and private hire drivers who have upgraded
to achieve compliance with the CAZ (following the CAZ being approved for launch
in October 2018) will be incentivised to continue operating their compliant vehicle
by way of free licensing costs for two years.

3.29

Taxi and private hire transitional grants would continue to be available until funding
is exhausted.

3.30

Under the proposals there would be funding available to allow drivers of noncompliant Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles to apply for a Transitional Grant should
they upgrade to Euro 6 or better. This funding will again be on a first come first
served basis and be subject to eligibility criteria.

3.31

Additionally, grants for large vehicle upgrades would continue to be available until
funding is exhausted. In the first place these will be made available to companies
Page 31

who already had applications in process when the funding was paused in June
2020.
3.32

The eligibility criteria and associated processes for managing the above mentioned
schemes is currently in development. Communications messaging will be issued to
confirm when the schemes are open for application in due course. The funding
levels available are set out in the budget section below.

3.33

First Bus and Arriva have received funding from LPTIP and the Clean Bus
Technology Fund to support their fleet upgrades. As part of the funding provision
voluntary agreements were entered into to commit the operators to continue
running these services in the City. Further discussions with the bus operators and
Government will take place to ensure that the standard of fleet is maintained in the
city.

3.34

Air Quality in the city will continue to be closely monitored to ensure that compliance
is maintained.
CAZ budget position, Financial support, Funding reallocation

3.35

The Council was successful in securing £1.86m early measures funding and c£18m
of Clean Air Funding to assist those affected by the CAZ in upgrading their vehicles.

3.36

The early measures funding has enabled the delivery of Electric Vehicle Charge
Point installations; a package of measures supporting modal shift at 30 schools
including scooters, storage and teaching materials, business modal shift
competition, citywide communications campaigns in support of the Clean Air Zone
scheme; and, as part of the wider EV trials scheme, incentives for taxi and private
hire drivers to upgrade to ULEV and an e-bike trial scheme.

3.37

The c£18m financial support was disseminated in packages of grants and loans.
Over 940 vehicles have been upgraded (over £7m cash) to date. The breakdown is
set out below:

Table 1: Large Vehicle Grants

Large Vehicle Type

Paid

Payment pending

Evaluation pending
(forecast)

HGVs

£4,288,000
268 vehicles
£1,040,000
65 vehicles

£928,000

£1,152,000

Non-scheduled
bus/coaches

£272,000

Table 2: Taxi and Private Hire Support Packages

Grants – funded from £700k early measures funding
Recipient type

Paid

Payment Pending

Page 32

Evaluation pending
(forecast)

Drivers
Operators

£690,000
460 vehicles
£87,000
58 vehicles

£1,500

£33,000

£6,000

£6,000

Loans – funded from council capital
Recipient type

Paid

Drivers

£1,019,000
102 vehicles
£0

Operators
3.38

This financial assistance has been a contributing factor to the City achieving its Air
Quality objectives.

3.39

The Council has requested a funding package from Central Government to
repurpose part of our previous Clean Air Funding allocation.

3.40

At a high level the proposed funding reallocation package is as follows:

3.41

Measure

Funding available
(c£7m TBC)

Transitional Grants (Taxi and Private Hire (inc
WAVs), and Large Vehicles

c£4.15m

Free licensing scheme

£1.8m

Miscellaneous (staffing, on-going public
communications, etc)

c£900k

The unspent Implementation funding is to be returned to Central Government with
the exception of values required to offset contractual liabilities.
Air Quality measures update

3.42

This section confirms the Air Quality measures that have been delivered in the city
since March 20 and also confirms measures introduced in response to Covid-19
that support the City’s Clean Air ambitions.

3.43

This year has seen an accelerated programme of investment in segregated cycle
infrastructure including:



Phase one (4.8kms) of the orbital cycle highway, on the outer ring road from Red
Hall to King Lane nearing completion.
Cycle superhighway facilities included on the Leeds to Stourton bus priority under
construction.
A65 Kirkstall Road scheme installed as part of an active travel response to Covid19 piloting the use light segregation.
Further light segregation schemes on A660 and Roseville Road installed in
September.





Page 33



Successful Transforming Cities Fund bid for £7m to enhance the city centre network
with early trial implementation happening this year.

3.44

Additionally, pedestrianisation of the city centre is taking place, with pedestrians
seeing benefits with wider footways, new public spaces and more planting – making
it more attractive to walk along the Headrow, Park Row and Infirmary Street. Also
the transformation of Cookridge Street will realise car free public realm in heart of
the city.

3.45

As part of the active travel response to Covid-19, 3 Active Travel Neighbourhoods
are being trialled in Beeston, Chapeltown and Hyde Park. These schemes remove
through traffic from areas, creating a better environment for active travel with safer,
quieter, and healthier streets in these communities.

3.46

Air Quality Strategy 2021 – 2030 proposal

3.47

An air quality strategy will be brought to Executive Board in Spring 2021 which will
set out the city’s ambitions to continually improve air quality with targets set at
levels beyond legal compliance for NO2, as well as particulate matter and will
identify the key actions required against key headings such as:

 Modal shift, including active travel
 Communications and engagement
 Increasing the prevalence of alternative fuel, including hydrogen and electrification
 Reducing emissions from domestic heating, industry and services
3.48

The Council is now committed to achieving above the UK Government-legislated
legal limits for Particulate Matter (PM) concentrations, striving to meet the more
stringent World Health Organisation guideline values for PM2.5 and PM10. The
Council’s performance against the guidelines at its two PM monitoring sites are
outlined below.
Annual mean PM10 ug/m3

2019

Leeds Centre

20 ug/m3

16 ug/m3

Headingley

20 ug/m3

16 ug/m3

Annual mean PM2.5 ug/m3

3.49

WHO guidelines

WHO guidelines

2019

Leeds Centre

10 ug/m3

12 ug/m3

Headingley

10 ug/m3

12 ug/m3

Building on the UK’s Industrial Clean Growth strategies will provide a key means of
reducing emissions from road transport. The Road to Zero Strategy sets out the
government’s approach to reducing carbon emissions, developing, manufacturing,
and using zero emission road vehicles. The strategy sets out a series of actions
required to transition from petrol and diesel vehicle fleets to ULEVs and zeroemission vehicles. Critically, the strategy sets out the following aims:

Page 34

3.50

By 2030, at least 50%, and up to 70%, of new car sales, and up to 40% of new van
sales, being zero or ultra-low emission.

3.51

-By 2040, all new cars and vans will be effectively zero emission and the sale of
new conventional petrol and diesel cars and vans will have ended.

3.52

-By 2050, almost all cars and vans will be zero emission, have “significant zero
emission capability” and the majority will be 100% “zero emission”.

3.53

The UK Government is considering bringing forward its ban on new fossil fuel
vehicles from 2040 to 2030 to help speed up the rollout of electric vehicles across
British roads, following assurances that the grid is capable of supporting the
charging infrastructure required to support the change. The announcement is
expected in November 2020.

3.54

A 2030 ban would be consistent with the Council’s previously stated policies on
zero emission vehicles with regards to tackling the climate emergency.

3.55

Although the widespread use of ULEVs will be instrumental in reducing air
pollutants produced by conventional vehicles, residents across Leeds should also
be enabled to make changes to their travel choices that have additional benefits for
them. This behaviour charge and modal shift aligned to the decarbonisation of
transport is detailed fully in the new Transport Strategy that is currently being
drafted.

3.56

Although the current number of EVs on the road remains a small proportion of the
national vehicle fleet, the UK is showing an increasing trend of ULEV uptake. The
“take-off” period for uptake of significant new technologies is typically established
when 5% of potential market is reached. In Leeds, ULEVs comprise just over 1% of
the total vehicle fleet, which is in line with the national trend. In 2011 there were 74
ULEVs registered in the Leeds local authority which has significantly increased to
5,018 ULEVs in 2018, again in line with the national trend outside London.
Accelerating the transition to alternative fuels forms a vital step towards reducing
the carbon footprint from transport sector in Leeds, alongside measures to increase
the use of public transport, walking and cycling.

3.57

Registrations of ULEV’s in Leeds is increasing rapidly, the DfT recorded that in Q1
of 2019 there were 5,497 ULEV’s registered in Leeds, by Q1 2020 this figure stood
at 9, 270. In the entire North East there were 4,694 ULEVs registered by Q1 2020,
741 in Manchester, 525 in Liverpool, 809 in Leicester, 713 in Nottingham in
comparison.

3.58

LCC has undertaken a series of actions to stimulate the use of alternative fuels in
the transport sector. The LCC electric vehicle trials offer organisations an
opportunity to borrow electric vans and electric bikes for a period of up to two
months. Given that businesses or individuals may feel wary of making a financial
investment in purchasing electric vehicles or bikes, the opportunity to trial them free
of charge is a valuable way to encourage consumer confidence. The trial has
recently been launched and will be subject to ongoing review. LCC is also offering
top-up grants to assist in the installation cost of EV charging points at homes and
workplaces. The Council has been transitioning its own fleet to alternative fuels for
the past several years and now boasts the largest EV fleet in the country. A solution
is required for sections of the fleet that are not suitable for electrification, mainly
larger, heavier vehicles such as the refuse fleet. Successful trials have taken place
Page 35

in the past of gas powered vehicles, the Council is now exploring options for using
hydrogen as a low-carbon, low NO2 fuel source.
3.59

In 2019, WYCA launched a project with the 5 regional districts for delivery of a
network of at least 88 rapid EV charging points across West Yorkshire to encourage
drivers to make the switch to electric vehicles (see Figure 3). The network provides
both rapid and fast charging at every site and provides 2 charging bays at each
location, with access for public and taxi & private hire vehicles. There are now 54
chargers installed across the region, with 12 live in Leeds and a further 2 due to be
completed in October (weather permitting). There have been over 17,000 charge
events across the Leeds network with an average of 6.4 charge events per day at
each location. With 36 units to be delivered by the end of 20/21 in Leeds alone, this
programme is contributing to Leeds having one of the highest ratios of pubic rapid
charger availability per capita in the country and is supporting above national
average growth in plug-in and ULEV vehicle registrations in the city. With additional
charge point provision planned through Park & Ride site development and
utilisation of £97,500 grant funding secured from the Office for Low Emission
Vehicles in September 2020 the growth of the charge network in Leeds is projected
to continue.

 Corporate considerations
3.60

Consultation and engagement

3.60.1 In 2018 the Clean Air Zone proposals were the subject of an extensive two phase
public statutory consultation process. The outcomes directly shaped the final
business case and final proposal.
3.60.2 In addition there has been extensive Member consultation throughout the design of
the scheme, with cross party briefings and presentations to cabinet and scrutiny at
regular intervals.
3.60.3 A further statutory consultation was carried out over a period of 6 weeks from 17
July 2019 in order to shape and finalise specific, narrow elements of the Charging
Order.
3.60.4 Subsequent to the pandemic occurring, the Executive Member for Air Quality has
been briefed on the nature of the CAZ review and a note explaining the situation
was disseminated to all Members in early-September.
3.60.5 Communications messages were issued to affected sectors, in particular those in
the system who had applied to access financial support, or had signed up to our
mailing list for CAZ updates.
3.61

Equality and diversity / cohesion and integration

3.61.1 An equality impact assessment for the whole CAZ scheme was approved by
Executive Board in October 2018. The EIA was further updated in September 2019
to reflect the further refinements to the CAZ scheme and was resubmitted in March
2020.
3.61.2 [As the CAZ is no longer proceeding there has been a requirement to refresh the
impact assessment. The March 2020 EIA is attached at Appendix 1, with the
refreshed elements attached at Appendix 2.

Page 36

3.62

Council policies and the Best Council Plan

3.62.1 The importance of air quality as an issue is reflected in the Council’s vision under
our Best Council Plan Sustainable Infrastructure : Improving Air Quality
3.62.2 Our vision is for Leeds to be a healthy city in which to live, work and visit and we
are working with partners to reduce emissions which will bring about health and
wellbeing benefits including reducing premature deaths, improving health,
promoting physical activity and reducing obesity levels.
Climate Emergency
3.63

The implementation of the Clean Air Zone was estimated to reduce carbon
emissions by 47,594 tonnes in 2020. As we have already seen the fleet upgrade to
levels beyond what was expected of the CAZ it is assumed this saving has already
been realised.

3.64

The measures proposed in the new Air Quality Strategy will further contribute to the
Council’s climate commitments to net zero.

3.65

Resources, procurement and value for money

3.65.1 Robust budget management processes have been employed to ensure the funding
provided by Central Government for Implementation of the CAZ and associated
financial support schemes was discharged appropriately.
3.65.2 Some areas of project development (namely, development of digital systems and
ANPR hosting/maintenance) were anticipated to exceed the original budget
allowance provided by Central Government due to changes in scope and delays
experienced, however these overruns have been offset by underspend in other CAZ
work-streams. Elements of the system development activity will continue in spite of
the cancellation of the Leeds scheme as it supports the implementation of other
Clean Air Zones nationally, as such continues to be funded by Central Government.
Spend approvals for this activity are already in place.
3.65.3 There are a variety of exit costs associated with cancelling the Leeds CAZ, such as
contractual liabilities, communications activity and resources. These exit costs are
fully funded by the Implementation fund provided by Central Government.
3.65.4 A settlement package has been requested from Central Government (described
above) to ensure the CAZ project closedown and continued air quality
incentivisation is managed throughout 2021/22.
3.65.5 In conclusion, there are no risks to Council budgets arising from the close down of
the CAZ project and maintenance of compliance. The funding envelopes provided
by Central Government (Implementation and Clean Air Fund) fully cover all of the
associated costs.
3.66

Legal implications, access to information, and call-in

3.66.1 In response to the Air Quality Direction 2017 (“the Direction”) the Council prepared
and finalised a scheme setting out the Council’s proposal for a CAZ-B to deliver
compliance in its area with the prescribed limits of nitrogen dioxide in the shortest
Page 37

possible time and accordingly made the Leeds Clean Air Zone Charging Order (No.
01) on the 19th December 2018. This Order set out the mechanism whereby Leeds
City Council would implement the charging scheme for its CAZ B originally by
January 2020.
3.66.2 However, as set out in this report, Executive Board were advised of delays to the
“go live” date as a result of technical issues that had arisen in respect of
implementation and thereafter, on the 23rd March 2020, the UK entered a period of
lockdown in response to the global Covid-19 pandemic.
3.66.3 Since this event, the Council and Central Government have revisited the evidence
and have carefully modelled Air Quality to determine compliance in the short to long
term in the City. This evidence demonstrates that Leeds City Council have in fact
now achieved compliance with the obligations set out in the Air Quality Direction
2017 and consequently as a matter of law, cannot now be required to implement a
CAZ-B in the City as its intended purpose is fully met.
3.66.4 It is noted that significant work has been carried out in order to achieve compliance.
It is important to note that at the time support was being provided by the Council for
upgrades being required, Leeds was in a position of non - compliance and was
required, as a matter of law, to implement a CAZ B.
3.66.5 The Council has therefore acted lawfully and reasonably in all its past approach to
the implementation of a CAZ-B in the City and it is entirely appropriate that Air
Quality levels are monitored periodically to ensure the scheme is meeting its
intended objective.
3.66.6 Now that legal compliance with the prescribed limits of nitrogen dioxide have been
met in the shortest possible time, it would be lawful and reasonable for Leeds to
cancel the implementation of the CAZ B, subject to ongoing review or the air quality
levels.
3.66.7 As the CAZ B will be cancelled, the Leeds Clean Air Zone Charging Order (No. 01)
as made on the 19th December 2018, though not operational, will now need to be
revoked formally by Order as per the requirements of S168 of the Transport Act
2000.
3.67

Risk management

3.67.1 The Implementation of the Leeds CAZ has been subject to formal project
management controls. As such there is robust project governance in place to track
progress and monitor project risk.
3.67.2 Air Quality is recorded as a risk on the Council’s corporate risk register and is
reported on a regular basis.
3.67.3 The financial liability to our ANPR contractor for its Operation and Maintenance
contract has been considered and the contract has been varied to reflect the current
circumstances.
3.67.4 The interest free loan scheme will no longer be offered as a supporting measure to
incentivise fleet upgrade, this ensures no further risk to Council budgets.
3.67.5 All other CAZ exit costs have been identified and will be funded from CAZ budgets.

Page 38

4.

Conclusions

4.1

The Air Quality Compliance review has determined that Leeds is compliant with
legal limits of NO2 and therefore a CAZ is no longer required in the City.

4.2

The Council will reallocate the unspent CAZ funding in accordance with the
agreement reached with Central Government.

4.3

A report detailing the new Air Quality Strategy 2021 – 2030 will be brought to the
Executive in Spring 2021.

5.

Recommendations
Executive Board is requested to:
a) Note the outcome of the review into Leeds air quality compliance achieving legal
compliance requiring the cancellation of the proposed Leeds Clean Air Charging
Zone (“Leeds CAZ”).
b) Delegate authority to the Director of City Development in conjunction with the City
Solicitor to take any formal steps under the Transport Act 2000 to revoke the Leeds
Clean Air Zone Charging Order (No. 01) that was made on the 19th December;
c) Note the funding repurposing package that has been requested from Central
Government.
d) Approve the high level approach to the development of the “Air Quality Strategy
2021 – 2030”.

6.

Background documents1

6.1

None

1 The background documents listed in this section are available to download from the council’s website, unless they
contain confidential or exempt information. The list of background documents does not include published works.

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Impact Assessment
Appendix 1
Directorate: Resources & Housing

Service area: Sustainable Energy &
Air Quality (SEAQ)

Lead person: Polly Cook

Contact number: 0113 3785845

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:
27/08/2019
1. Title: Clean Air Zone – Final submission
Is this a:
X

Strategy /Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
Stakeholders
X

Services users

X

Partners

Employees
Members

Trade Unions
Suppliers

Other please specify
Potential barriers.
Built environment
services

Location of premises and

X

X

Information & Communication

Customer care

Timing

Stereotypes and assumptions

Cost
X

X

Financial exclusion

Consultation and involvement
Employment and training

specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function
Please specify

This document is a supporting document (Appendix 2) of the Executive Board report
titled Improving ‘Air Quality in the City – CAZ update’ published in September 2019.

Page 41

The Council submitted Executive Board reports in December 2017, June 2018 and
November 2018 which were each accompanied by Equality Impact Assessments
(EIA). This final EDCI is supplementary to previous EIAs, introducing new
information from the statutory consultation and address any policy changes that have
occurred since November 2018.

1. What we assessed
Background
Leeds has been named as one the cities in the UK that will not be compliant with the
mean annual average emission levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) required by
regulations by 2020, in line with EU air quality minimum requirements. As a result,
Leeds City Council is required to implement a solution to achieve compliance with
EU & National air quality targets within the shortest possible timescale to deliver
improvements to air quality in Leeds, consistent with other legal responsibilities.
Whilst the need to achieve compliance is a legal requirement, Leeds recognise and
are committed to improving the health and wellbeing of everyone in the city and
taking appropriate steps to reduce pollution improves air quality and benefits us all.
The CAZ will improve public health by addressing the issue of air quality in the city.
Both long- and short-term exposure to air pollution are known to adversely affect
health. Short-term exposure (over hours or days) to elevated levels of air pollution
can cause a range of negative effects including exacerbation of asthma, effects on
lung function, increases in hospital admissions and mortality. Epidemiological studies
have shown that long-term exposure (over several years) reduces life-expectancy,
mainly due to increased risk of mortality from cardiovascular and respiratory causes
and from lung cancer.1
Exposure to air pollutants has been linked to adverse health effects. On average air
pollution reduces life expectancy of every resident in the UK by 7-8 months2. Public
Health England modelled that 29,000 deaths and 307,000 lost life years3 are
attributed to annually to Particulate Matter (PM) 2.5 and NO24. In Leeds PM is not a
factor in terms of non-compliance, we already meet the requirements standards and
are close to meeting the higher standard set by the World Health Organisation
(WHO) for PM 2.5 ; the focus for Leeds is NO2 reductions. However, improvement
beyond compliance will continue to deliver further health benefits.

1

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) - Expert testimony from Public Health England to
inform NICE ‘Air pollution: outdoor air quality and health’ guideline 2017 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70

2

H. Brunt, et al – Air pollution, deprivation and health: understanding the relationships to add value to
local air quality management policy and practice in Wales, UK, 2016
3
Public Health England - Estimating Local Mortality Burdens associated with Particulate Air Pollution,
2014
4
Particulate Matter and Nitrogen dioxide

Page 42

In September 2018, Leeds proposed the implementation of a Clean Air Charging
Zone (CAZ) Category B across a part of the city’s geographical area to meet air
quality national standards in the shortest possible timescales and improve the air
quality for the whole city. This option would require buses, coaches, Heavy Goods
Vehicles (HGVs), and taxi/private hire (T/PH) vehicles to comply with pre-determined
emission standards or pay a daily charge if they travel in the zone. The final CAZ
proposal was approved by Executive Board on 18 October 2018.
On 21 November 2018 the Council approved the making of the Leeds Clean Air
Zone Charging Order (adopted on 19th December 2018), with an accompanying
EDCI impact assessment. Since this date, a number of policy changes have arisen
which are reflected in the content of this EDCI assessment. On 11 December 2018
the Council submitted its Full Business Case to Government for the Leeds Clean Air
Charging Zone which was subsequently approved on 18 January 2019 with £29
million funding awarded in total. The breakdown is as follows:
Infrastructure

£6m

HGV sector

£11.3m (+ £2.5m stretch fund)

Non-scheduled buses and coaches

£2m

Taxi and Private Hire

£4.7m (+ £2.5m stretch fund)

Charging Clean Air Zone – Category, Vehicles Impacted
The Council will be implementing a Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) Category B. This
option would require buses, coaches, Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs), and
taxi/private hire (T/PH) vehicles to comply with pre-determined emission standards
(Euro 6 diesel/Euro 4 petrol) or pay a daily charge if they travel in the zone. T/PH
vehicles that are not powered by petrol-hybrid, liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) or fully
electric will be chargeable within the CAZ.
Category

Proposed charge

Buses, coaches & HGVs

£50 per day
£12.50 per day (non-Leeds licensed drivers)

Taxi & Private Hire
Vehicles

£12.50 per day or £50 per week (Leeds licensed
drivers only)

Page 43

Paying for CAZ Charges
Central Government are developing a national payment portal (NPP) to allow users
to make payments online for any CAZ. These payments should be made only when
a vehicle is in contravention of Leeds’ CAZ vehicle emission standards and is not in
receipt of any local or national exemptions. The NPP is an online website, carefully
designed to make checking vehicle compliance and making a payment as simple as
possible. This online payment route will be the only method of making a payment for
the Leeds CAZ, this is also the case for the Birmingham CAZ – the only other CAZ
being confirmed to be implemented in 2020. Users will be able to pay:
-

In advance
o Users can pay up to 7 days in advance of CAZ entry
Retrospectively
o Users can pay up to midnight the following working day after CAZ entry

A decision has been made to not provide an alternative payment option (e.g,
telephone, Paypoint) due to the standard of CAZ that Leeds City Council is
implementing. A CAZ B impacts upon the bus, coach, HGV, taxi and private hire
sectors. The majority of these business sectors uses basic digital skills to manage
their operations, and as such making payment via the NPP is expected to be of
similar complexity. As a result, there is no requirement for Leeds City Council to
provide ‘assisted digital’ options for CAZ payment. Central government intend to
implement a central contact point for all queries relating to CAZs. There will be
guidance available for those who have queries regarding making a payment online
and calls will be triaged where appropriate, in some instances cases may be referred
to the Council to resolve.
Mitigation of Economic Impact
For each impacted category of vehicles there is a package of support measures in
order to mitigate the economic impact of the CAZ and assist companies in making
the transition to cleaner, less polluting, CAZ compliant vehicles. These support
measures take the form of financial support to transition to cleaner vehicles, or
locally decided exemptions from CAZ charges for a temporary, fixed, or permanent
duration. The volume of funding available is detailed below
Vehicle category

Funding pot

Funding
mechanisms

HGV sector

£11.3m (+ £2.5m
stretch fund)

£16,000 grant for a
replacement
vehicle/retrofit

Page 44

3 rounds of funding
with maximum of 5
vehicles per round
£1.2m allocated for
specialist HGVs –
up to 5 vehicles per
company
Non-scheduled buses
and coaches

£2m

£16,000 grant for a
replacement
vehicle/retrofit
2 rounds of funding
with maximum of 10
vehicles per round

Taxi and Private Hire

£4.7m (+ £2.5m stretch
fund)
£700k early measures

£10,000 interestfree loan (2072
loans available)
£1,500 grant to
replace/retrofit
vehicle (466 grants
available)

Local Exemptions
The below table lists the locally derived exemptions available. For each exemption to
be valid, a range of criteria must be met, with some criteria requiring a manual
application to be submitted to the Council by the owner of the vehicle.
Exemption Title
Euro 6 diesel T&PH vehicle licenced pre
17/10/2018
Euro 6 Executive taxi/private hire
WAV T&PH
Class M2 vehicles
A taxi or private hire vehicle subject to
finance agreement – licenced prior to
18/10/2018

End of exemption
31/12/2021

Showman’s vehicles

Permanent

31/12/2021
31/12/2027
31/12/2021
Date that purchase is completed or
31/12/21 whichever is earliest.

Page 45

Heavy vehicle for which replacement or
retrofit vehicle has been ordered
Vintage buses
School buses meeting Euro IV, V or VI
diesel emission standard
Community minibuses
Diverted vehicles

Date of vehicle replacement/retrofit
installation or 31/12/20. Whichever is
soonest
Permanent
Permanent
Permanent
Permanent

New Exemptions

Specialist Heavy Goods Vehicle
exemption

Permanent

8 passenger T&PH vehicles

Permanent

Prior to the Improving Air Quality September 2019 Executive Board, it was proposed
that these exemptions should solely apply to drivers/vehicles licenced with Leeds
City Council. Following a statutory consultation on the specific topic of taxi & private
hire and specialist vehicles in the CAZ, this Executive Board proposed an
amendment to the CAZ Charging Order to extend all exemptions to ‘out of town’
drivers – those who are licenced with authorities other than Leeds City Council. As a
result of this amendment, there is a benefit to a wider group, mitigating against the
impact of CAZ implementation and ensuring there is equity in the use of measures to
support affected sectors for drivers licenced with Leeds City Council and other
authorities.
2. Consultation with possible impacted groups
Background
Since January 2018 we have held three consultations with the people that live, work
or visit Leeds. This included:




An initial consultation on the Council’s outline CAZ proposal between 2nd
January – 2nd March 2018
A statutory consultation on the preferred CAZ solution which took place
between 28th June – 12th August 2018
Further statutory consultation on T&PH and specialist vehicle exemptions
between 17th July – 26th August 2019

During the aforementioned consultations we carried out an online survey as well as
holding face to face meetings with companies, trade organisations and events
targeted at the business sectors that could be directly impacted. This included

Page 46

sessions held for the HGV sector, T/PH, bus and coach businesses5.We also held
public events in the city that were open to all.
Through the initial and statutory consultation on preferred CAZ approach we also
raised awareness of the survey questionnaire by advertising throughout the city with
postcards to every household and business in Leeds, over social media, in our
community hubs, libraries and one stop shops. A dedicated email contact was
offered for anyone wishing to ask specific questions regarding the proposals.
Engagement was also undertaken with children and young people through a schools
specific questionnaire during the initial consultation, awareness raising through the
Learning Improvement Service and Headteachers Forum. The Leeds Youth Council
were also consulted on all the proposals during both the initial and statutory
consultations.
Initial Consultation
We had our highest response to any consultation in the city with over 8,500
responses to the first CAZ consultation. Even with this high number of responses,
analysis of the results showed that there was under representation of the businesses
that could be impacted if the CAZ was approved. However, the qualitative work
undertaken with the business sector through events, meetings and working with the
trade or representative organisations provided a strong understanding of the views of
this sector. The questionnaire analysis also showed that there was an under
representation in the respondents of some of the key equality characteristics such as
gender, ethnicity, disabled and certain age groups.
Equality
Response %
characteristic
Age 18 – 29
13
Age 65 +
15
Gender – Female
37
Disabled
7
Ethnicity group
5
Asian
Phase one consultation gaps6

Leeds census %

Difference %

27
18
51
17
8

14
3
14
10
3

The outcomes of this first consultation required the Council to revisit the proposed
CAZ solution and determine a preferred CAZ solution.
Statutory consultation
The statutory consultation was open from 28th June – 12th August 2018. Engagement
methods were reviewed to try to encourage those that were under represented in the
first consultation to take part. The consultation was open to replies from both within
5
6

Further details can be found in Executive Board report appendix A.
Only shown gaps that relate to EIA

Page 47

and outside the district. When we again held consultation events for the impacted
sectors we made sure that we removed barriers such as language by providing
translators at T/PH events because English is not the first language for a large
proportion of those engaged in this sector. This translation service had only minimal
use throughout the duration of the consultation. Leaflets were handed out at taxi
ranks in the city centre to ensure T/PH drivers would be aware of the consultation
events targeted specifically at their sector and included information in Urdu and
Punjabi, having identified from demographic data and consultation with voluntary
sector groups, working with the relevant communities, that Urdu and Punjabi would
be the most appropriate languages to include in written and spoken communications
with T/PH drivers.
The Council has Equality Hubs which are based on the Equality Act 2010 protected
characteristics of Lesbian Gay Bisexual and Trans (LGBT+), age, women, disability
and religion/belief in Leeds. We asked the Hubs to distribute the survey to their
members. The Hubs help ensure Leeds City Council is engaging with and involving
the full range of citizens that live in Leeds in the consultation process and decisions it
makes. We provided the consultation questionnaire in large font, audio cd, braille
and paper on request.
As with the first consultation we had many interactions with Leeds residents at the
events that were held throughout the city and we held more targeted events and
meeting to engage with the potentially impacted sectors. Full information on the
survey results can be found in Appendix 1 of the September 2019 Executive Board
report.7
The awareness of the second statutory consultation for the amendment of the CAZ
Charging Order in July 2019 was raised through a communications plan which
included the following:








7

Pop-up content on the HGV and Exemptions page of the CAZ website that
clicks through to the consultation (if webmaster permits)
A message sent through Yortender to everyone who has registered interest in
the Large Vehicle grant schemes
Organic social media posts via the trade associations
Public-facing events with specialist vehicle operators
Content in trade organisation newsletters and bulletins including the RHA,
FTA
An email to everyone on the master list identified as being a HGV operator or
who has registered for HGV updates
Physical letters to 1k+ mail addresses identified using O license data

Link to appendices

Page 48

Taxi/private hire & specialist large vehicles statutory consultation
The third public consultation, held for six weeks from 17th July – 26th August 2019
available via an online survey garnered 526 responses. This consultation targeted
Taxi and Private Hire Operators and Specialist Vehicles (HGV) Operators for their
input regarding the amendment of the Clean Air Zone Charging Order in respect of
the qualifying criteria for a specialist vehicle and the extension of sunset period(s)
and the future emissions standards for Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Operators.
There was also an opportunity to meet with a Council officer at a face-to-face event
within the six week consultation period. Both Specialist Vehicle Operators and Taxi
and Private Hire Operators were targeted due to their ability to be directly impacted
by any proposed changes to the now approved and soon-to-be implemented CAZ.
Specialist vehicles
The proposed Qualifying Criteria for the Specialist Heavy Goods Vehicle exemption
is:
 A Specialist Heavy Goods Vehicle that cannot be retrofitted to meet CAZ
compliant standards
 Costs in excess of £200,000 to replace
 Operates for no more than three hours per working day
 Tax class N2 or N3
 Body type Low loader / Breakdown Truck / Special purpose
Businesses that meet the Qualifying Criteria can apply for an exemption using the
online application process on the Council’s website.
The Council acknowledges there will be some businesses that have been waiting for
the outcome of this consultation exercise before taking action. To assist these
businesses that Council is opening up a small funding competition to allow for grant
applications. The fund available is £1.2m which will fund 75 grants for specialist
HGVs that meet the above criteria.
Taxi & Private Hire
The consultation sought feedback on the following:
 Extending the existing exemptions (sunset periods) to out of town taxi and
private hire vehicles.
 The year in which the future emissions standard (zero emission) should be
introduced for the taxi and private hire sector.
 The year in which the future emissions standard (zero emission) should be
introduced for the WAV cohort of taxi and private hire sector.
 Extending the existing WAV exemption (sunset period) to align with the future
emissions standard date.
 Introduction of a new sunset period / temporary exemption when the future
emissions standard is implemented for vehicles that are currently licensed or
become licensed within 12 months of the CAZ go-live and meet the existing

Page 49

CAZ compliant emissions standards, until the vehicle needs to be replaced to
meet taxi licensing standards
Respondents were in favour of:
 Extending all existing sunset periods / temporary exemptions to Out of Town
taxi and private hire drivers.




Implementing the future emissions standard in year 2028
Extending the existing WAV sunset period to 2028 to align with the future
emissions standard
Introducing a new sunset period for vehicles that are currently licensed or
become licensed within 12 months of the CAZ go-live and meet the existing
CAZ compliant emissions standards, until the vehicle needs to be replaced to
meet taxi licensing standards.

This feedback will be utilised in the first annual review of the CAZ.
The rest of this document will look at the positive and negative impacts on the
protected characteristics and other areas that could be impacted by the introduction
of a CAZ in Leeds.
3. Age
Leeds has an estimated population of almost 787,000 across 331,000 household
making it the third largest city in the UK. Recent population projections show that
Leeds is projected to increase to just over 826,000 by 2026. The biggest projected
increases are in the age bands 15 and below and 65 and above. Both these groups
have been shown to be particularly vulnerable to poor air quality as well as pregnant
women and those who have chronic conditions8.
Leeds projected population increase 2017-2027
Age band

2017

2027

% increase

Number increase

All Ages

786,846

826,332

5.0%

39,486

Aged 0 to 15

150,830

161,947

7.3%

11,117

Aged 16 to 64

513,941

526,090

2.3%

12,149

Aged 65+

121,398

138,511

14.0%

17,113

ONS 2016
The age groups are spread throughout the city and certain areas may have higher
concentrations of a certain group but the modelling has shown that even though the
8

Royal College of Physicians – Every breath we take; The lifelong impact of air pollution, 2016

Page 50

proposed CAZ defined boundary only covers a proportion of the city, the air quality
improvements will be felt throughout the city.
There is an increased reliance on public transport amongst children, young people,
and the elderly. These groups use the bus fleet to travel throughout the city, and in
many areas this is the only means of public transport available. A decline in the
number or frequency of services available as a result of CAZ charges would
therefore impact upon this group. To mitigate against this, the Council has worked
together with the West Yorkshire Combined Authority to bid for £3m Clean Bus
Transport Fund to assist the providers of scheduled buses to upgrade or retrofit their
vehicles to meet CAZ standards. This financial assistance is expected to mitigate the
risk of bus companies reducing services.
To ensure that school-related travel by children and young people is not negatively
impacted by the CAZ, and an enriched curriculum with specific activities to tackle
childhood obesity and activity levels can be maintained, buses/coaches operated by
or on behalf of a school for the purpose of transporting Leeds school pupils will be
exempt providing the vehicle meets Euro IV, V or VI diesel emission standards.
Grants of up to £16,000 have been made available for operators of non-scheduled
buses or coaches to retrofit/replace their vehicles with a CAZ compliant vehicle. The
intention of this grant scheme is to ensure that support was available to make the
school bus/coach fleet stock as ‘clean’ as possible.
Leeds City Council is implementing a range of projects/programmes in addition to
the CAZ to improve the air quality. Scoot to school is one of these initiatives which is
providing a holistic air quality/scooter training initiative at 30 schools in Leeds so they
can use that instead of travelling by car to school, appreciate the impact of air quality
on health, and educate both the children and parents on the advantages of not using
the car for the school run. This initiative is targeted at schools where there is a high
number of vehicles used for the school run.
Another strand of the work to improve air quality in the city is the creation of antiidling zones which will be in place around schools and taxi ranks in the first instance
to help improve the air quality. Vehicles stopped or parked will need to switch off
their engines so reducing emissions and improving air quality in these locations.
Children in each school have been involved in the publicising of the anti-idling zones
with each school holding a competition to design a poster that will go up around their
school and educating both parents, local drivers and children on the impact of idling
on the air quality and subsequent negative impact on health.
The implementation of a CAZ category B will impact upon operators of buses,
coaches, HGVs, and taxi & private hire vehicles. The Data on age demography from
the Labour Force Survey (Q2 2016) revealed that over 64% of large goods vehicle
drivers are 45 years or older9. This is vastly different to the economy-wide
9

Source: Quarterly Labour Force Survey, Q2 2016

Page 51

demographics, where the population aged 45 years or older in employment was
found to be around 50%. Only 2% of employed drivers are under 25, whereas over
10% of the total employed population is under 25. The implementation of the CAZ
will have a greater impact on workers closer to retirement. This impact is being
mitigated through the availability of grants to replace/retrofit existing non-compliant
vehicles. A market capacity exemption has also been implemented to ensure that
owners of non-compliant vehicles that have arranged for a compliant
replacement/retrofit which cannot occur prior to go-live due to market capacity issues
have a temporary exemption until 31/12/2021 or the date of vehicle
replacement/retrofit.

4. Carers
No direct impact. The implementation of a CAZ B does not impact upon private car
owners, light goods vehicles or minibuses. These are the vehicles used by carers.

5. Disabled
Being disabled covers a wide range of people. This includes people with mental
health conditions and those who are physically disabled. Some disabled people will
have chronic conditions which can be impacted by air pollution. We know from the
most recent census available in 2011 that 17% of the population stated that their
day-to-day activities were limited because of a health problem or disability which has
lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months.
The European Environment Agency recently said:
“Air pollution is the single largest environmental health risk in Europe and the
disease burden resulting from air pollution is substantial (Lim et al., 2012; WHO,
2014). Heart disease and stroke are the most common reasons for premature death
attributable to air pollution and are responsible for 80 % of cases; lung diseases and
lung cancer follow (WHO, 2014). In addition to causing premature death, air pollution
increases the incidence of a wide range of diseases (e.g. respiratory and
cardiovascular diseases and cancer), with both long- and short-term health effects,
including at levels below the existing WHO guideline values (WHO, 2016a, and
references therein). The International Agency for Research on Cancer has classified
air pollution in general, as well as PM10 as a separate component of air pollution
mixtures, as carcinogenic (IARC, 2013).”11

10

11

Particulate Matter

Air quality in Europe — 2017 report

Page 52

Below is a graphic that shows that all the broad types of chronic conditions that are
impacted by poor air quality.

Source EEA12
By improving air quality we could improve the instances of some of the most
common conditions that are impacted by PM2.5, PM10 and NO2.
In Leeds as an example below this many people have the following conditions:
Type of disease

No. of people

% of Leeds
population
2.90

25557
Chronic heart
disease
14532
1.65
Stroke/TIA*
17307
1.97
COPD**
93175
10.58
Asthma
Data from GP practice systems in Leeds collected from the CCG Data Extraction
Programme, 2018
*transient ischemic attack, ** Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
There has been lots of research into the impact of air pollution on heath and this
area is being prioritised across the world. In the UK, the Chief Medical Officer used
her latest annual report to talk about the health impacts of all pollution and it shows
that more research needs to be done to make sure we learn as much as we can to
counter this public health risk.13
Charging T/PH drivers may have had an impact on the availability of wheelchair
accessible vehicle (WAV) and an increase in fares. To mitigate these impacts we put
in place an exemption for all WAV T/PH vehicles until 31/12/2021. Following the third
12

EEA, Air quality in Europe — 2017 report

13

Annual report of the Chief Medical Officer 217 Health Impacts of All Pollution

Page 53

consultation phase, it is proposed to extend this exemption to 31/12/2027 (linked to
future reviews of the CAZ emissions standard). It is important to recognise that there
a range of disabilities, not all of which would require the use of a T/PH WAV. To
reduce the risk of any charges being passed on disproportionately to disabled users
support measures are available to all Leeds T/PH drivers to make the transition to
cleaner vehicles. These support measures are grants, interest free loans, and
temporary or permanent exemptions as detailed in Section 1: What We Assessed.

6. Gender reassignment
No direct impact.

7. Race
When it comes to race we know that poor air quality has an impact on some of the
health conditions that are more prevalent in minority ethnic groups. When we last
collected equality data from the T/PH drivers as part of the licensing process we had
55% of the forms that had ethnicity data completed and it showed that 69% of drivers
had identified themselves as British Pakistani/Kashmiri.
As part of the proposed CAZ we have asked that T/PH vehicles meet a higher
standard than is set out in the national CAZ Framework.
There is a financial impact to this group but we are mitigating this by:









offering interest free loans to enable the purchase of compliant vehicles
transition grant to support the cost of switching to a new vehicle
LPG conversion grant which enables petrol vehicles to be converted to
LPG.
Relaxation of the age at which a ULEV can be first licensed
o The council’s conditions for the age of a vehicle when it can first be
licenced have been relaxed for ULEVs. A vehicle will only be
accepted for licensing if the date of first registration is less than 7
years (previously 5) and a milometer showing fewer than 120,000
miles for electric, petrol hybrid and LPG vehicles.
Relaxation of the age at which a ULEV can last be licensed
o Ultra low emission vehicles (electric, petrol hybrid or LPG) may
also be licensed up to 12 years of age, following an age extension
inspection.
Local exemptions – several exemptions are available for T&PH
drivers/operators to mitigate against impact of the CAZ

We already know from the equality monitoring data for T/PH licensees that the
majority of drivers have a South Asian heritage and they have a higher prevalence of

Page 54

certain diseases that can be impacted by poor air quality such as heart disease and
stroke.14 Research15 is showing that emissions from exhaust fumes carried by
ventilation system in motor vehicles are a significant source of air pollution. This is
reflected in recently published research by Kings College London that has shown
that diesel black cab drivers are exposed to nearly twice as much pollution as those
driving an electric model12b. Reducing the number of non-compliant T&PH vehicles
will provide an improvement to driver health. Queueing in taxi ranks results in the
ingestion of emissions from other T&PH vehicles – this is less likely to occur
following a fleet transition to cleaner vehicles.

8. Religion
No direct or indirect impact.

9. Gender
We know from the latest data from the Department for Transport16 that women use
taxis more often than men but because of the support packages that we are
proposing there should be no negative impact.
The World Health Organisation (WHO)17 has shown that air pollution has been linked
to health impact on fertility, pregnancy. These include negative effects on neural
development and cognitive capacities which can continue to have an impact in later
life. Improving air quality with the introduction of the CAZ and the other measures to
improve air quality will benefit pregnant women.
The implementation of the CAZ will impact on owners of non-compliant vehicles. The
implementation of the Leeds CAZ B will impact on owners of HGVs, buses, coaches,
taxi & private hire vehicles. Each of these sectors is very male-dominated, for
example more than 99% of large goods vehicle drivers are male18. The support
packages put in place as previously detailed will help to mitigate the impact on
affected parties.
10. Sexual Orientation

14

https://www.bhf.org.uk/informationsupport/support/your-ethnicity-and-heart-disease
Bin Xu, Xiaokai Chen and Jianyin Xiong - Air quality inside motor vehicles’ cabins: A Review, 2016
12b
Research funded by the Institute of Occupational Safety and Health and LEVC
16
Department for Transport, Taxi and Private Hire Vehicles Statistics: England 2017
17
WHO, Regional office for Europe – Review of evidence on health aspects of air pollution, 2013
15

18

ONS Q4 2017 Labour Force Survey

Page 55

No direct impact.

11. Economic disadvantage
We are offering support packages for all three sectors to mitigate any economic
disadvantage that could be caused by the introduction of the CAZ.
Support packages (subject to Government funding) vary by sector but include
access to interest free loans (T/PH), grants to support the transition to cleaner
vehicles (T/PH, HGV, buses & coaches), weekly charge rates for Leeds based T/PH
only, financial support for adding accredited retrofit technologies to vehicles (HGV,
buses & coaches).
With the range of support measures it is expected that the number of vehicles
needing to pay daily charges will be reduced so mitigating economic impact and
supporting local businesses.
The revenue generated by the CAZ will be used to cover the costs of running the
scheme in the first instance. Net proceeds will be used to implement further clean air
measures in line with the requirements of the national clean air framework. The high
level spending objectives for these net proceeds include mitigating economic impact
to vehicles incurring the charge by offering support packages to upgrade and retrofit
their vehicles and support the upgrade/retrofit of vehicles that have either been
exempted or provided a sunset period.
Support and mitigation will be offered to businesses in Leeds impacted by the CAZ
through the administration of Government Clean Air Fund (CAF) grant money as well
as through appropriate local exemptions.
It is expected that even where a non-compliant vehicle is driven and charged within
the zone in many instances the cost of the daily charge will be spread across
multiple commercial sites or users. In the case of multi-drop deliveries for example
the one £50 would be ‘shared’ by all those receiving goods so reducing the pass on
costs. Similarly a coach trip with over 50 passengers would see a price increase of
less than £1 per person.
CAZ Payment Policy
The payment window available for users to pay a CAZ entry charge is:


Pay 7 days in advance or by midnight the following working day after CAZ
entry

Throughout the initial and statutory CAZ consultations, it was proposed that the
retrospective payment window would be ‘pay by midnight the following day after CAZ
entry’. This payment window has been extended to be to ‘the following working day’.

Page 56

The intention of this extension is to ensure that businesses have sufficient time
following entry to the CAZ to make a payment, taking into account the traditional
non-working days of Saturday & Sunday.
The introduction of an extended retrospective payment window is an economic
advantage for impact businesses as it provides a longer window to ensure payment
for journeys is made, and the avoidance of a Penalty Charge Notice being issued.
More detailed information on the economic impact can be found in the Final
Business Case19.

12. Deprivation
The government’s Indices of Deprivation (IoD) 2010 are the official measure of
deprivation in England. Data from the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) indicates
that over 150,000 people in Leeds live in areas that are ranked amongst the most
deprived 10% nationally. The health of people in Leeds is generally worse than the
England average, which is strongly associated with the high levels of deprivation
experienced by the 150,000 people in Leeds who are living in areas ranked amongst
the most deprived 10% nationally.20 There are significant health and wellbeing
inequalities across Leeds with the gap in life expectancy between the most and least
deprived in the city of over 10 year. One of the key priorities in our Best Council Plan
is reducing the health inequalities and improving the health of the poorest fastest.
Below is a map of the city which shows the areas are the most deprived in Leeds in
red.

19
20

Final business case : Economic case
LCC – Deprivation, Deprivationhttps://democracy.leeds.gov.uk/documents/s62979/appendix

Page 57

A recent study has shown that deprivation and health are inextricably linked21 . The
CAZ will positively improve the air quality which is disproportionately experienced by
the most deprived areas of the city. As a result of the CAZ, there will be a much
greater proportion of compliant vehicles travelling throughout Leeds, including those
which travel into the zone and through communities surrounding the boundary. This
will, in turn, deliver air quality improvements beyond the zone itself including in
deprived neighbourhoods of Leeds external of the Zone. In addition to this, the new
reduced boundary has been carefully considered to ensure that it will not create
significant displacement of traffic, which would bring emissions to other areas. Our
modelling supports this future decrease in emissions throughout the city, not only in
the charging zone but beyond it. Finally, there was an economic case to consider for
the amended boundary which will minimise the financial impact on businesses,
particularly local SMEs, helping to safeguard employment.

21
H. Brunt, et al – Air pollution, deprivation and health: understanding the relationships to add value
to local air quality management policy and practice in Wales, UK, 2016

Page 58

Equality, Diversity, Cohesion and
Integration Impact Assessment
Appendix 2
Directorate: Resources & Housing

Service area: Sustainable Energy &
Air Quality (SEAQ)

Lead person: Polly Cook

Contact number: 0113 3785845

Date of the equality, diversity, cohesion and integration impact assessment:
27/08/2019
Refreshed 10/09/2020
1. Title: Clean Air Zone – Final submission
Is this a:
X

Strategy /Policy

Service / Function

Other

If other, please specify
Stakeholders
X

Services users

X

Partners

Employees
Members

Trade Unions
Suppliers

Other please specify
Potential barriers.
Built environment
services

Location of premises and

X

X

Information & Communication

Customer care

Timing

Stereotypes and assumptions

Cost
X

X

Financial exclusion

Consultation and involvement
Employment and training

specific barriers to the strategy, policy, services or function
Please specify

Page 59

This document is a supporting document of the Executive Board report titled
Improving ‘Air Quality in the City – CAZ update’ published in September 2019. The
Council submitted Executive Board reports in December 2017, June 2018 and
November 2018 which were each accompanied by Equality Impact Assessments
(EIA). This final EDCI is supplementary to previous EIAs, it addresses the impact of
the cancellation of the CAZ scheme only.
As detailed in the main accompanying report to Executive Board (21 October 2020)
regarding Improving Air Quality in the City (Clean Air Charging Zone (CAZ) update)
there has been a fundamental change in the approach required by LCC to improving
Air Quality (AQ) in the city. Relevant sections of this associated EIA have been
updated to reflect this new position.
In light of these changes elements of this EIA focusses narrowly on:


Background



Consultation with possible impacted groups



Race



Economic disadvantage

The changes to the future of AQ improvements in Leeds have no impact of the
remaining sections of the previously submitted EIA (1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10 & 12)
however when a future report detailing the new Air Quality Strategy 2021 – 2030 is
brought to the Executive in due course all aspects of EIA requirements will be
updated as required.
1. What we assessed
Background
Leeds was been named as one the cities in the UK that will not be compliant with the
mean annual average emission levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2) required by
regulations by 2020, in line with EU air quality minimum requirements. As a result,
Leeds City Council was required to implement a solution to achieve compliance with
EU & National air quality targets within the shortest possible timescale to deliver
improvements to air quality in Leeds, consistent with other legal responsibilities.
Whilst the need to achieve compliance is a legal requirement, Leeds recognise and
are committed to improving the health and wellbeing of everyone in the city and
taking appropriate steps to reduce pollution improves air quality and benefits us all.
A benefit of the CAZ fleet upgrade is the improvement public health by addressing
the issue of air quality in the city. Both long- and short-term exposure to air pollution
are known to adversely affect health. Short-term exposure (over hours or days) to
elevated levels of air pollution can cause a range of negative effects including
exacerbation of asthma, effects on lung function, increases in hospital admissions
and mortality. Epidemiological studies have shown that long-term exposure (over

Page 60

several years) reduces life-expectancy, mainly due to increased risk of mortality from
cardiovascular and respiratory causes and from lung cancer.1
Exposure to air pollutants has been linked to adverse health effects. On average air
pollution reduces life expectancy of every resident in the UK by 7-8 months2. Public
Health England modelled that 29,000 deaths and 307,000 lost life years3 are
attributed to annually to Particulate Matter (PM) 2.5 and NO24. In Leeds PM is not a
factor in terms of non-compliance, we already meet the requirements standards and
are close to meeting the higher standard set by the World Health Organisation
(WHO) for PM 2.5 ; the focus for Leeds is NO2 reductions. However, improvement
beyond compliance will continue to deliver further health benefits.
In September 2018, Leeds proposed the implementation of a Clean Air Charging
Zone (CAZ) Category B across a part of the city’s geographical area to meet air
quality national standards in the shortest possible timescales and improve the air
quality for the whole city. This option would require buses, coaches, Heavy Goods
Vehicles (HGVs), and taxi/private hire (T/PH) vehicles to comply with pre-determined
emission standards or pay a daily charge if they travel in the zone. The final CAZ
proposal was approved by Executive Board on 18 October 2018.
On 21 November 2018 the Council approved the making of the Leeds Clean Air
Zone Charging Order (adopted on 19th December 2018), with an accompanying
EDCI impact assessment. Since this date, a number of policy changes have arisen
which are reflected in the content of this EDCI assessment. On 11 December 2018
the Council submitted its Full Business Case to Government for the Leeds Clean Air
Charging Zone which was subsequently approved on 18 January 2019 with £29
million funding awarded in total.
The latest report to the Executive confirms the outcome of the CAZ review and
confirms the scheme is no longer going ahead as the aims of the CAZ (and therefore
the associated benefits) have been achieved.
2. Consultation with possible impacted groups
Since the pandemic started in March 2020, and the subsequent CAZ review
communications have been issued direct via email to all applicants and recipients
of CAZ financial support packages so they were clear about any announcements
and how it related to their own financial support award or application for support.
Further messages have also been issued to the wider generic audience through
media channels and the LCC website in August 2020.

1

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) - Expert testimony from Public Health England to
inform NICE ‘Air pollution: outdoor air quality and health’ guideline 2017 https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng70

2

H. Brunt, et al – Air pollution, deprivation and health: understanding the relationships to add value to
local air quality management policy and practice in Wales, UK, 2016
3
Public Health England - Estimating Local Mortality Burdens associated with Particulate Air Pollution,
2014
4
Particulate Matter and Nitrogen dioxide

Page 61

These lines of Communication will be maintained and further updates issued
including the outcome of the October Executive Board to all sectors as well as how
further financial assistance can be accessed.
Comments and feedback previously received from the sector has also been taken
into account in the development of ongoing economic support for example the
inclusion grants for Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) from the Taxi & Private
Hire (TPH) fleet to apply for funding.

3. Race
Data has been available in the public domain for some time about the significant
additional impact on the Black, African and Minority Ethnic groups (BAME) in
respect of COVID-19; with individuals of BAME heritage and background being
more seriously affected in terms of number of hospitalisations and increased
mortality rates.
It is also known that BAME groups are represented in higher proportions amongst
the taxi and private hire (TPH) workforce.
With so many cleaner vehicles on the road (as highlighted in the accompanying
report to the Executive) TPH drivers will benefit whether they live or just work in the
city by being exposed to fewer air and traffic pollutants in their everyday lives.
So the steps taken to date, as well as future plans, to maintain the improvements in
air quality ensures that any additional COVID-19 risk for the BAME community is
not further compounded by breathing poor quality air associated with traffic
emissions.
There has also been further work to lessen the financial burden on individuals who
also work as TPH drivers who have received loans from LCC or had grant
applications in process have been a key consideration throughout recent months
and is highlighted further in section 11.
Overall the impact on Race of the Clean Air Zone preparation has had a positive
impact on communities, as they now breathe cleaner air than when this EIA was
first prepared. This positive benefit of improved air quality is expected to continue
into the future so also helps mitigates other negative impacts, rather than
compounding the affect, such as contracting COVID-19.
When it comes to race we know that poor air quality has an impact on some of the
health conditions that are more prevalent in minority ethnic groups. When we last
collected equality data from the T/PH drivers as part of the licensing process we had
55% of the forms that had ethnicity data completed and it showed that 69% of drivers
had identified themselves as British Pakistani/Kashmiri.
4. Economic disadvantage
The demographics of the TPH workforce suggests that while a higher proportion are
from BAME communities who also predominantly live in areas of economic
disadvantage in the city.

Page 62

Extensive work was undertaken through the submission of the business case,
submitted to government in late 2018, to mitigate any further negative economic
impact through CAZ planning and implement for these communities.
As the main Executive Board (October 2020) report highlights fleet upgrade in the
city has exceeded expectations of the CAZ for Leeds. This shows a positive impact
on the city’s economic prosperity; as increased fleet churn with earlier than expected
upgrades being made to the key fleets of TPH, HGVs and buses and coaches shows
that individuals and companies have funds to invest in making these changes.
The latest figures show that more than 90% of buses and 80% of heavy goods
vehicles now use cleaner Euro VI engines—a huge increase from the 3% of buses
and 20% of HGVs that did so in 2016.
Ultra-low emission vehicles (electric, hybrid, hydrogen or liquid petroleum gas) are
also surging in popularity among Leeds residents and businesses, having increased
ten-fold since the start of 2016.
More than 2,300 of the city’s licensed taxi and private hire cars are now ultra-low
emission—up from around 1,000 in January 2019.
This means that anyone who lives or works in Leeds including those who drive for a
living is now breathing considerably cleaner air than two years ago as a result of the
improvements to the city’s fleet and the other air quality measures delivered in
support of cleaner air. Leeds now sits comfortably below legal compliance for NO2
which is defined at 40 microgram/m3 in national legislation.
Leeds has seen some impact from the Covid-19 lockdown with air quality benefits
associated with reduced traffic flows however it should be noted that the modelling of
the cities legal compliance does not include these reduced traffic flows; rather the
modelling has assumed traffic flows returning to normal levels to ensure the review is
robust even this position places levels well below 40 microgram/m3.
Leeds continues to benefit from the reduced traffic flows and the associated air
quality improvements as there are nt current indications of returns to pre-lockdown
levels even though businesses are up and running again post lockdown.
In March 2020 the decision was taken to suspend the TPH loan scheme. It
immediately became apparent as lockdown was entered nationally that many
business especially the TPH sector would be unable to operate during the lockdown
period and this would have far reaching impacts on their income and as such render
responsible lending decisions by LCC impossible to reach regarding loan
affordability. Ceasing approval and payment of any further loans ensured that there
was not an increased financial burden or level of indebtedness for TPH drivers in this
group.
A repayment holiday was also immediately implemented for all recipients of the
loans to date, this was initially for 3 months but was extended and in total covered
the period April-November so no payments were claimed or required for a period of 8
months.
The opportunity to make voluntary contributions of any value was offered for those
who may have their income less impacted e.g. those with NHS contracts that they
still fulfilled. Direct debit ayments will be recommenced on 1st December 2020, and
assistance through Sundry Debtors has been offered for anyone in financial difficulty.

Page 63

Throughout lockdown the rate of fleet upgrade as seen through grant applications
did slow but didn’t stop.
During this period new TPH grant applications continued to be accepted and
processed with Government issuing a caveat that only upgrades made prior to 26th
June 2020 should be considered as eligible for funding to allow for the review in to
the CAZ to proceed.
Throughout lockdown TPH offices and garages were closed and all officers working
remotely, gradual reopening of face to face operations and vehicle inspections
recommenced in early July but still remain at a reduced level compared to prelockdown capacity. Throughout this period additional discretion and support was
utilised by LCC in the processing of grant applications and applications were
processed without the conditions of new vehicles being licensed as with TPHL
offices being closed some elements of checks could not be completed within normal
timescales.
Grant applications already received and in process for the Large Vehicle Grant
Scheme were also still processed and paid in line with eligibility. Almost all of the
HGV and non-schedule bus and coach sector have been impacted throughout the
pandemic although some are seeing swifter recovery than others.
For example any operator with links to holidays, hospitality, entertainment and the
events industry have seen and continue to see significant limitations on their income
and expect opportunity for little or no work to remain in the months to come due to
restrictions on numbers that can congregate and social distancing requirements.
As part of the mitigation and CAZ exit strategy, negotiations with Central
Government are underway to retain some of the CAF money and continue to make
funds available through provision of financial support packages to impacted sectors
for whom, while there is no longer an CAZ imperative to upgrade, are seeking to
make vehicle upgrades in the interests of public health and improving our city.
We have seen, that despite the impact of COVID-19 on individuals and businesses,
many are extremely committed to making further vehicle upgrades. They show
financial planning which suggests economic growth and the investment of their own
funds to facilitate this. Although it should be noted that many see the provision of
CAF assistance in the form of grants, combined with their own resources, as vital to
achieving making further fleet upgrades.
Planned initiatives include;


equivalent of two years free Taxi and Private Hire Licencing for those who
upgraded following the original CAZ announcement



continued support for upgrades for HGVs, NSB&C, & TPH



grants available to be extended further to benefit TPH vehicles which are
Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs)
.

These schemes are subject to confirmation by Government.

Page 64

For any recipient in receipt of funds that they have not yet spent in upgrading to
compliant vehicles direct contact has been made with them about their options
including the opportunity to return the funds.
Following provision of the loan repayment holiday the term of the loans will be
extended by the same period so repayable over a period of 56 months rather than 48
for those loans paid pre-lockdown. The necessary notice to accompany loan
agreements will be issued direct to loan recipients.
Overall there have been extensive measures to support the impacted sectors which
shows mitigation against any negative CAZ economic impact. The prosperity of the
cities individuals and businesses to utilise their own funds and access financial
support to up to grade vehicles has supported improvements in the air quality
realising health benefits for all.

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

